TED SID J. WHITE

IN THE

MAY 9 1991

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPPEME COURT By-Chief Deputy Clerk

WILLIAM DUANE ELLEDGE,	
Appellant,	
vs .	
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Appellee.	

CASE NO. 74,789

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

(On Appeal from the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit In and For Broward County, Florida)

> RICHARD L. JORANDBY Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit of Florida 301 N. Olive Avenue/9th Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (407) 355-2150

ERIC M. CUMFER Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 764663

RICHARD B. GREENE Assistant public Defender Florida Bar No. 265446

Counsel for Appellant

CONTENTS

• *

.

<u>CONTENTS</u>	AGE
AUTHORITIES	iv

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

William Duane Elledge was the Defendant and the State of Florida the plaintiff in the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit of Florida. The following symbols will be used:

"R" Record on Appeal

"MS" Transcript of Motion to Suppress, contained in Appellant's Motion to Supplement With Attached Documents.

"HC" Transcript of hearing in Federal district court in support of Appellant's petition for habeas corpus, contained in Appellant's Motion to Supplement With Attached Documents.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Elledge was charged by indictment in the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit Court with first degree murder and rape of Margaret Strack on Auguat 24, 1974. R 827A. On March 17, 1975, he pled guilty to the charges; the trial court took his testimony to establish a factual basis for the murder plea and accepted it after finding felony murder was established. R 2000-2006. Mr. Elledge was sentenced to death; that sentence was vacated on direct appeal. <u>Ell</u>edge v. State, 346 So.2d 998 (Fla. 1977). After the Fourth District Court of Appeal denied a writ of prohibition on August 2, 1977, Elledge v. State, 349 So.2d 1240 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977) (memo), Mr. Elledge was resentenced to death; this Court Elledae v. State, 408 So.2d 1021 (Fla. 1982). affirmed. The Supreme Court denied a petition for writ of certiorari. <u>Elledge v. Florida</u>, 459 U.S. 981 (1982). Judge Futch denied a motion to vacate judgment and sentence on March 10, 1983. This Court affirmed this denial and denied write of habeas corpus, quo warranto and/or habeas corpus, and error coram nobis, Elledge v. Graham, 432 So.2d 35 (Fla. 1983); petition for certiorari wae denied. <u>Elledge v. Florida</u>, 464 U.S. 986 (1983). Mr. Elledge filed for a petition for habeas corpus with the United States District Court, Southern District of Florida; relief was denied. The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals reversed this denial in part, ordering Mr. Elledge be resentenced. <u>Elledge v. Dugger</u>, 823 F.2d 1439 (11th Cir.), modified 833 F.2d 250 (1987). The Supreme court denied a state petition for certiorari. Dugger v. Elledae, 485 U.S. 1014 (1988).

Mr. Elledge was brought up for resentencing on August 7, 1989 after the court heard various pretrial motions on December 16, 1988 and April 13, 1989. A jury was selected and evidence presented; the jury recommended death by a vote of 8 - 4 on August 10. The trial court denied a motion for a new hearing, a pro Be motion for a new hearing, and imposed a death sentence on Auguat 28, 1989. R 825-6. A written sentencing order was filed at that time. R 2685-2689.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mr. Elledge suffered physical, emotional, and sexual abuse as a young

Daniel Elledge, his younger brother by six years, teetified their child. mother, Geneva, severely beat himself and William when they were children. R 558-560. Their close cousin, Sharon Jenninge, confirmed this abuse. R 679-685. Geneva would beat the children almost daily, often using implements such as a strap, bat, or skillet. R 559, 681. She did not beat in response to bad behavior, but rather whenever she felt like it, striking them in the head and Geneva would beat them for long periods, body in a frenzy. R 559, 683. kicking the children in the face and body as they lay curled up on the floor. She would sometime8 be stopped by their father; otherwise she often continued until she tired. R 560, 686. William Elledge was left bruised and bloodied by these assaults. R 560, 683. Sharon Jenninge' mother - Geneva's sister considered taking William into their household becauee of the beatings, but did not, in fear of her sister's temper. R 687. The abuee had apparent affects on Mr. Elledge: at age 6, he was a meek, quiet, and shy child. R 686-7.

Geneva never showed William any affection. R 681-2. She once told William without apparent reason her husband was not William's real father. R 569. William was sickly as a baby; hie crying once caused Geneva to try to throw the infant out the window of a moving car, only to be stopped by William's father. R 685. The father, more affectionate, tried to keep the familytogether. R 566.

Both parente were alcoholics. R 560-1, 685. They would go to weekend drinking parties, leaving Connie, William's older sister and then about thirteen, in charge. R 561, 685. Connie regularly had sexual intercourse with William before she left the house at age seventeen to marry. R 563.

Dr. Glenn Caddy, a clinical psychologist holding a doctorate in psychology and author of numerous articles on the subject, was qualified as an expert. R 582, 587. He testified about the affects of Mr. Elledge's childhood and other problems on his mental/emotional state in 1974. Dr. Caddy conducted a review of voluminous material, including Mr. Elledge's psychiatric, medical, military, and California Youth Authority records and a transcript of his confession. R 586. He spoke extensively with Mr. Elledge and two family members. R 586-9.

Dr. Caddy opined that Mr. Elledge suffered from pathological intoxication and impulse control disorder as a recult of his severely abused childhood. His early life predestined him €or trouble. R 597. Hie mother's abuse devastated him; the environment was chaotic. R 593-4. The beatings victimized Mr. Elledge who was helpless to resist. R 595-6. The incest with his sister, a relationship which often tunred violent, caused a sense of inadequacy and lifetime problems with sexual issuee. R 598-9.

William's chaotic, abused homelife caused problem0 in controlling impulses beginning at age 3. R 600. He attempted to run away from home at the age of 9. He was picked up by a man who raped him and threw him over a bridge, leaving him with a feeling of hopelesenees. R 601. William's impulse control problems became full blown in his teen years. When he was about 12, he hit hie sister with a guitar; this level of violence was very unusual for a child of that age. His experience left him unable to distinguish between fear and rage and without limits on altercatione. R 604. He would be completely overcome with rags. R 604.

Dr. Caddy also opined that Mr. Elledge was a life-long alcoholic, first beginning drinking at age 9, after he was raped. "It seems that right from the outset Bill Elledge drank as an alcoholic drinks." R 601. William Elledge used alcohol daily in large quantities; he also used marijuana and occasionally other drugs in an effort to calm himself. R 602. He suffered from pathological intoxication, causing dramatical emotional escalations when intoxicated. R 602.

The state precented four witnecess who testified about evente surrounding Strack's death, but primarily relied an Mr. Elledge's taped confession of August 27, 1974. R 392-533. Mr. Elledge cooperated with the police fully in this case. R 513. Mr. Elledge told the police he came to Florida a week before the homicide with his girlfriend, Paula Fein. R 397. The day before Strack's death, around noon, he and Paula had an argument and split up. R 399. Mr. Elledge went to various bare, and drank all that day and night until they closed, once returning to the room he shared with Paula, finding it empty. R 400. He checked into Room 3 of the Normandy Motel in Hollywood around 6 am, sleeping until 2 pm. R 402, 404. After waking, William went to a bar and began

to drink again. Margaret Strack sat next to him, and he bought her drinks. He had 9-10 hard liquor drinks, she 4-5 beers.' Strack wanted to smoke marijuana, so they drove her car to his room and did so; they were both intoxicated.² R Strack then began to sexually tease him by rubbing his genitals and 408-11. rubbing her breasts against him. She came out of the bathroom with her panties R 411-2. When William Elledge began to respond, she partially pulled off. refused to have sex. R 413-4. He grabbed her by her throat and wrist. Strack dug her fingernails into his wrist, making him angry. R 414-6. He began to choke her until she agreed to submit. R 416. When he took off his trousers to have sex, she said she would call the police and began to scream. R 417-8. "I was totally out William Elledge became enraged and choked off her scream: of control." R 419. He remembers her thrashing about, clawing for air, and putting hie penis in her. R 418 He also threw her to the floor. R 419. However, hie mind was largely disconnected at this point: "I was totally blank." R 419. He could not remember all that happened; he next noticed she was dead.³ R 420. Mr. Elledge triad to clean up; he waited until night to dispose of the body, taking it to a parking lot in Strack's car.⁴ R 421-6. He

¹ Janet Pocis, the bartender, testified Stack sat by William Elledge after he arrived, R 358; Pocis served Strack 2 drinks and William Elledge 3. R 358-9. The pair left around 3 pm, and were friendly with each other; they appeared sober. R 359, 366.

² Dr. Abdullah Fatteh, who performed Strack's autopsy, testified a report showed Strack's blood alcohol level was .06%, equal to 2 to 3 beers or one Ounce hard liquor drinks. R 460. The reading would be coneiatent with Strack drinking more shortly before her death. R 465-6. This blood test showed no other drugs; none would not appear if taken more than 24 hours before and marijuana was not detectable at all in 1974. R 467-8. The court struck, on the state's motion, his testimony the body had 15 needle marks on the elbow and two on the hand. R 466.

 3 Dr. Abdullah Fatteh testified he performed an autopsy on Margaret Strack. R 454. She died of strangulation. R 455. He testified that various bruises on the body occurred before death, but that some on the right forearm and left knee occurred after death. Sperm was found in Strack's vagina. R 458.

⁴ Officer Perone of the Dania Police testified he was called to a parking lot the next: day around 7:30 pm and found Strack's body. Her blouse was pulled up, and her underwear down; her legs were tied with an electrical cord. R 350-1. He identified five photoa of the corpse at the scene and autopsy which were admitted. R 352.

tried to hide Strack's possessions in the room.⁵

Dr. Caddy testified about Mr. Elledge's mental etate at the time of this offense. Mr. Elledge was incapable of controlling his actions, acting under extreme duress and extreme mental/emotional disturbance. R 607, 613. Mr. Elledge was intoxicated from alcohol and marijuana; his pathological intoxication contributed to the offense. R 606-8. He had just broken up with his girlfriend and faced very provocative sexual teasing followed by a refusal to have sex. These circumstances caused him to completely lose control, as he told the police. R 605. Hie feelings of sexual inadequacy, arising from hia early experiences as a victim of abuse, rape, and incest, came to the fore. R 611-2. His impulse control dieorder, a result of his helpless victimization as a young child, made him become enraged and try to overcontrol the situation. R 612-3.

The state preaented no witnesses with opinions contrary to Dr. Caddy. Dr. Caddy admitted to not interviewing Katherine Nelson, the widow of another homicide victim, and not calling several others who knew Mr. Elledge then. R 637, 641, 644, 667. The state brought out hearsay opinions of various mental health professionals appearing in documents Dr. caddy reviewed that Mr. Elledge had anti-social personality disorder. R 651, 652, 654, 661, 663. Dr. Caddy explained in response to the state's questions what this disorder is. R 657, 661, 663. Dr. Caddy disagreed with these diagnosee and questioned their reliability. R 659-660. Although Mr. Elledge remembered some details of the incident after he became enraged, that wae coneistent with Caddy's diagnosis: he suffered from lack of control, not amnesia. R 635.

The state also introduced evidence of other crimes committed by Mr. Elledge, playing another confession. R 472-505. Later the evening of August 24, 1974, Mr. Elledge was drinking at a bar with another; he became drunk and wrecked the car. R 476. He entered a Pantry Pride, thinking it empty, through a vent in the building. R 478. He ran into and subdued Edward Gaffney who had tried to hit him with a mop. However, he then shot Gaffney twice, killing him,

⁵ Officer Devin of the Hollywood Police testified he found some belongings of Margaret Strack in this room on August 26, 1974. R 369.

when Gaffney raised up and Mr. Elledge feared an attack. R 479-80. Mr. E ledge rummaged the store, looking for money. R 479-98. Officer Devin testified the store had been damaged, Gaffney's pockets were empty, and a coin box was broken open. R 373-4. He also identified photographe of Gaffney's corpse at the store and autopsy. R 378. Dr. Fatteh testified he performed an autopsy on Gaffney. Fatteh confirmed he had been killed by two shots to the chest and described the damage these rounds did to Gaffney's internal organs. The state entered two photos of Gaffney's eorpee at autopsy during his testimony. R 462-3. Mr. Elledge left the Pantry Pride, returned to the Normandy and then took a bus to Jacksonville. R 499-500. His judgment and life sentence €or the murder of Gaffney were put in evidence. R 540.

The etate presented evidence of the murder of Paul Nelson in Jacksonville Mre. Nelson testified Mr. Elledge came to the motel she kept with her Beach. husband in the late evening hours one night in August, 1974. R 523. He threatened them with a gun and tied them up, demanding money. R 523. He then discovered their grandson, David McBride trying to load a rifle, disarmed him, and tied him up. R 528, 535. As Mr. Elledge searched for money in the office, Paul Nelson freed himself and went into the hall from their bedroom with an unloaded gun in his hand. R 530. Mr. Elledge ehot him to death and then ehot twice into the darkened bedroom. R 530. The court denied a motion for a mistrial baaed on Mrs. Nelson's display of emotion. R 550. The state introduced a judgment and life eentence for the murder of Paul Nelson only. R 540.

Mr. Elledge introduced evidence of his adjustment to prison. Two prison officers, Kuck and Blye, testified. Officer Kuck, in charge of a wing at Florida State Prison, has been employed there for over 7 years; previously he was an Army drill instructor. R 543. Hie experience gives him insight into who will cause trouble. R 544. He haa known Mr. Elledge well for the last few years. He has been a good prieoner who neither caueed difficulties nor been any danger to guarda or inmates. R 544-5. When shown documents, alleged disciplinary records, he stated they did not change his opinion; they are often given far minor infractions. R 551-2. The parties later stipulated Mr. Elledge had 17

disciplinary reports, none involving violence, and all but 3 written before 1983. R 699. Officer Blye, a vetern corrections officer of 13 years, had known Mr. Elledge for 10. R 554. Mr. Elledge had never threatened anyone, been involved in fights, or been trouble to the officer. R 556.

Dr. Caddy testified Mr. Elledge's pathology had decreased profoundly in prison. R 614-5. He had recently given him psychological tests and spoken extensively with him. R 625-6. His abstention from alcohol, mental treatment in prison, and reflection has changed hie behaviors. R 614-5. He has developed real friendships on death row and functioned well in prison. R 615-8. In Dr. Caddy's opinion, Mr. Elledge's actions in confessing to and cooperating with the police and his statements then and later show he is sincerely remorseful for his crime. R 618-9. The state eetablished that no remorse was shown by Mr. Elledge until after his arrest. R 620, 639-640.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The fairnese of the proceedings below were marred by **a** variety of serious evidentiary errors. Even so, Mr. Elledge presented uncontradicted evidence of numerous mitigating factors. In brief, a reaeonable quantum of evidence, uncontradicted by any competent evidence, established that Mr. Elledge faced severe, prolonged physical abuse by his mother as a child. Both parents were alcoholics and sometimes left the children for weekends while they went drinking. Mr. Elledge suffered severe, acute emotional traumas as well. He was raped at age 9 by an older man as he tried to run from home. He and his older sister engaged in regular sexual intercourse at a young age. Mr. Elledge began drinking at age 9 and is a life-long alcoholic. The crime occurred because Mr. Elledge faced provocative sexual behavior the day after he split up with his girlfriend and was intoxicated. He had been victimized by physical and sexual abuse as a child. At the time, he suffered from pathological intoxication and impulse control disorder. These factors established he acted under extreme mental or emotional disturbance, duress, and without the capacity to conform his conduct to the law's requirements. He cooperated with police, confessed, and pled guilty. He has since adjusted well to prison and recently shown personal

growth. All of these mitigating factors must be found as a matter of law.

The trial court improperly admitted a variety of evidence. First, the court allowed the state to bring out the hearsay opinions about Mr. Elledge's mental/emotional state of several doctors during the cross exam of a defense witness. None of these declarants testified; the state presented no live witness to contradict defense testimony about Mr. Elledge's state of mind when he killed Margaret Strack. Using these hearsay opinions violated Florida law and several constitutional protections, especially the right to confront adverse witnesses.

Next, the court allowed the prosecutor to use voluminous, irrelevant, and inflamatory evidence, supposedly to establish prior violent felonies by Mr. Elledge. The emotional testimony of the widow of a collateral crime victim who constantly referred to her familial relation with the deceased and photos of the corpse of another collateral crime victim put irrelevant, inflamatory evidence before the jury. Alternately, Mr. Elledge had confessed and pled guilty to these crimes; the volume of evidence made them a feature of the trial. Also, use of these details of the prior violent felonies violated double jeopardy.

A hearsay opinion about the deceaeed's blood alcohol level was introduced, denying Mr. Elledge the opportunity to cross examine the test-giver and opinionmaker. Evidence suggesting **&**. Elledge attempted two murders were put before the jury; no convictions were obtained for theee crimes making such evidence non-statutory aggravation, The court allowed the jury to hear Mr. Elledge used an alias, Billy the Kid, suggesting he identified with outlaws and regularly engaged in crime. The jury heard evidence that Margaret Strack was a college student; such victim impact evidence was not relevant and served to inflame the jury. The court allowed the prosecutor to bring out evidence Mr. Elledge had two prior sentencing hearings, both occuring many years before. This evidence also inflamed the jury against Mr. Elledge. Finally, Mr. Elledge's confessions were used against him although they were obtained against his will and contrary to Miranda's requirements.

The court excluded evidence improperly. A prison officer was not allowed to testify Mr. Elledge would do well in the future in prison, directly contrary

to controlling Supreme Court precedent. A jury member expressed concern on this issue. The court did not allow Mr. Elledge's brother to explain why he wae able to adjust socially despite suffering similar child abuse. This prevented Mr. Elledge from presenting his side of the case, in light of the state's evidence and argument the child abuse inflicted on Mr. Elledge did not affect hie later behavior. The court struck evidence the victim used hard drugs, judicially declaring she had no drugs in her system, so the evidence was not relevant. This harmed Mr. Elledge's defense to the heinous, atrocious, Or cruel aggravator. It violated his right to cross the state witness who said no sign of drugs appeared in the victim's blood stream, knowing she had needle marks on her body.

The court committed per se reversible error by not holding a <u>Richardson</u> inquiry when defense objected to the use of an unrevealed stack of 40 pages during the cross of a prison officer, allegedly containing prieon disciplinary reports of Mr. Elledge. The trial court wrongly decided the state had no duty to anticipate use of this rebuttal evidence. Also, the prosecutor informed the jury that the taped etatement of Mr. Elledge to the police contained edits made at defense counsel's request. The jury must have realized the references were to other crimee; this comment requires a mistrial.

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