FILED SID J. WHITE AUG 19 1991 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By______ Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM DUANE ELLEDGE,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 74,789

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 158541

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

(TR 2687).

Ds. Caddy was called to stand on behalf of Elledge and testified that he had reviewed the medical and psychological background of Dr. Lewis, Dr. Miller, Dr. Tauble, Elledge's medical records, the California Youth Authority records, and records from the Colorado State Hospital. (TR 586). In discussing his conclusions with regard to Elledge's mental status, he concluded that Elledge knew the difference between right and wrong and was in fact legally sane. He observed that although Elledge knew the difference between right and wrong, he was unable to stop his actions once undertaken. In essence, he had no personal control. The doctor observed that he suffered

from pathological intoxication and that one could see this coming based on his history. (TR 607-609, 613). He further observed on direct examination that based on his fifteen years incarcerated, Elledge was profoundly less pathological. He observed that Elledge had made friendships with others on death row and that Elledge was not a danger to anyone while he was incarcerated. (TR 614-617). On cross examination, he readily admitted that Elledge had an average IQ, was not insane nor psychotic. He also concluded Elledge suffered from no psychotic disorder at the time of the murder but rather he suffered from a personality disorder. He acknowledged that he had read the reports of Dr. (TR 625). Miller and Dr. Tauble who interviewed Elledge in 1974 and 1975. In fact, Dr. Caddy published in the record the results of both Dr. Miller and Dr. Tauble's report, specifically, that Dr. Miller thought that Elledge suffered from a anti-social personality disorder and that he lacked regard for human beings and Dr. Tauble found that Elledge had an anti-social personality disorder. (TR 650-652). He also revealed that he reviewed the reports of Dr. Eichart, who indicated that Elledge did not need further psychiatric intervention; and Dr. Britton, who found that Elledge suffered from an anti-social personality disorder. (TR 653-663). In reviewing the information Dr. Caddy had reviewed in preparation for his testimony, Dr. Caddy said that the California Youth Authority information revealed that Elledge was quick to rationalize and excuse his decisions and that said conduct was consistent with an anti-social personality disorder. (TR 664). Ultimately on re-direct, Dr. Caddy testified that Elledge

suffered from impulse control disorder with a personality disorder with a number of anti-social features. In addition, Elledge's history of alcoholism exacerbated said condition. (TR 678-679).

As the trier of fact, the trial court was in the best position to credit or not credit the mitigating circumstances tendered. In that vein, he was also permitted to review the evidence utilized by the witnesses in reaching their results, specifically, the information made available to Dr. Caddy and Dr. Caddy's views of what these reports stated. Pursuant to Valle v. State, supra; Sochor v. State, supra; King v. Dugger, 555 So.2d 355 (Fla. 1990); Scull v. State, 533 So.2d 1137 (Fla. 1988); Carter v. State, 576 So.2d 1291 (Fla. 1989); Bruno v. State, 574 So.2d 76 (Fla. 1991); Sanchez-Velasco v. State, 570 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1990); Rivera v. State, 561 So.2d 536 (Fla. 1990), and Randolph v. State, 562 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1990), relief should be denied.

POINT XXII

WHETHER THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO PROVE ELLEDGE COMMITTED THE MURDER FOR THE PURPOSE OF AVOIDING OR PREVENTING AN ARREST

In Elledge v. State, 408 So.2d 1021, 1023 (Fla. 1982), this Court affirmed the trial court's finding that the murder was committed for the purpose of avoiding arrest. Specifically, the court observed:

> . , This argument is unfounded for a close examination of the record reveals that Elledge's taped confession and a transcript of that confession were admitted into evidence. During this confession, Elledge

detailed the victim's threats to call the police when he initiated the rape. Such evidence is sufficient to support the conclusion that Elledge killed the rape victim in order to prevent her carrying out her threat.

It would appear that nothing different was presented in the instant resentencing that would make this particular aggravating factor less compelling. In fact, the identical evidence was presented, to-wit: Elledge's confession detailing the threats Margaret Strack made to Elledge about calling the police when he initiated the rape. (TR 417-418). See Caruthers v. State, 465 \$0.2d 496 (Fla. 1985), and Hitchcock v. State, 578 \$0.2d 685, 693 (Fla. 1990), wherein the court observed:

Hitchcock has likewise demonstrated no error in the court's finding the murder to have been committed to prevent or avoid arrest. Hitchcock admitted that he killed the victim to keep her from telling her mother. Had she done so, this would undoubtedly have led to his arrest. Contrary his to current contention, have held that we never '{a]ctual, subjective awareness by the accused of an impending arrest must be proven a reasonable doubt' before this beyond aggravator can be found.

Elledge is not entitled to relief as to this claim.

POINT XXIII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY FOUND THE MURDER WAS HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS OR CRUEL

The trial court found:

This murder was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel. The defendant choked the victim until she was beating on the wall and gasping for air. He then threw her from the bed onto the floor and again choked her for approximately fifteen to twenty minutes. During this **period** of time, the defendant was raping the victim.

(TR 2687).

In Elledge v. State, 408 So,2d 1021, the correctness of the heinous, atrocious and cruel finding was not in serious contention in that it did not even merit discussion by the court. In Elledge v. State, 346 So,2d 998 (Fla. 1977), no concern was raised with regard to said finding. Nor, in Elledge v. Dugger, 823 F.2d 1439 (11th Cir. 1987), did the federal courts have any problems with the applicability of this appravating factor. Moreover, this Court has consistently held that in similar circumstances, the aggravating factor of heinous, atrocious or cruel applies. See Capehart v. State, So.2d (Fla. 1991), 16 F.L.W. at \$449; Sochor v. State, So.2d (Fla. 1991), 16 F.L.W. at S299; Holton v. State, 573 So.2d at 292 (Fla. 1990); Sanchez-Velasco v. State, supra, and Duckett v. State, 568 So,2d 891 (Fla, 1990). In Hitchcock v. State, 578 So,2d at 692-693, the court, in a very similar circumstance, observed:

> That Hitchcock might not have meant the killing to be unnecessarily torturous does actually mean that it not was not unnecessarily torturous and, therefore, not heinous, atrocious, or cruel. This aggravator pertains more to the victim's perception of the circumstance than to the perpetrators. (cite omitted). Hitchcock stated that he kept 'chokin' and chokin" the victim, and hitting her, both inside and outside the house, until she finally lost consciousness. Fear and emotional strain can contribute to the heinousness of a killing. (cite omitted). As Hitchcock concedes in his brief, '[s]trangulations are nearly per se heinous.' See Doyle v. State, 460 So.2d 353 (Fla. 1984); Adams; Alvord v. State, 322 So.2d 533 (Fla. 1975), cert. denied, 428 U.S. 923, 96

S.Ct. 3234, 49 L.Ed.2d 1226 (1976). The court did not err in finding this murder to have been heinous, atrocious, or cruel.

Likewise, in the instant case, Elledge's own confession reveals that he choked Ms. Strack for fifteen minutes until her face turned purple and her rolled back into her head. He choked her until she was **dead**, her nose was bleeding and he did so in an effort to choke her screams completely. When she started fighting, and hitting her arms against the wall, he threw her down on the floor and continued to choke her. (TR 416-420). He denied putting any cigarette burn marks on her body or smashing her face. (TR 424, **427).** However, the medical examiner testified that there were numerous bruises about the head and extremities and all the bruises except for two were caused prior to the victim's **death**. (TR **456)**. Death was caused by asphyxiation by strangulation, evidenced by the fracturing of the hyoid bone and hemorrhaging of the eyelids as well as the surface of the heart, lungs and larynx. (TR 455-456).

Based on this record, the aggravating factor or heinous, atrocious and cruel was properly found. A brief word is necessary with regard to the extraneous language used by the trial court concerning how the body was disposed. The trial court did not rely on his recital of what happened after Ms. Strack was killed to support this aggravating factor, rather, he merely recited that which was presented to the jury in the redacted confession as to what occurred after the murder. Any error regarding the courts' conclusions are harmless.

POINT XXIV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE FELONY (SEXUAL BATTERY) AGGRAVATOR WENFINDING ONLY A FELONY MURDER BASED ON THE RAPE IN TAKING THE PLEA

The record reflects, as Elledge points out, that he pled guilty to first-degree murder and rape, however, the trial court, after determining that there was a factual basis for the plea, determined that it existed for felony murder. (TR 2000-2006). In Lowenfield v. Phelps, **484** U.S. 231 (1988), the United States Supreme Court addressed a similar issue as that raised herein. This Court, in Bertolotti v. State, **534** So.2d 386, 387, n.3 (Fla. 1988), and Parker v. Dugger, 537 So.2d 969 (Fla. 1988), concluded that similar claims were without merit.

POINT XXV

WETHER CUMULATIVE ERROR AT ELLEDGE'S RESENTENCING REQUIRE A NEW RESENTENCING

Elledge next argues that "although an error may not merit reversal by itself, that several errors in combination, require reversal," (Appellant's Brief, at 78). Pointing to the jury's recommendation of death by the "narrow margin of 8-4", Elledge makes the collective argument that all that came before when combined require a new resentencing. The State would rely on the authorities cited in the individual points set out in its pleadings in response to this particular issue.

POINT XXVI

WHETHER FLORIDA'S DEATH PENALTY STATUTE IS CONSTITUTIONAL

As in Mendyk v. State, 545 So.2d 846, 850 (Fla. 1989), Elledge asserts a plethora of constitutional errors regarding Florida's death penalty statute as well as the manner in which it is applied as a basis for relief. None of the claims merit relief, however, a cursory review of each follows. See also Stano v. State, 460 So.2d 890 (Fla. 1984), and a number of other cases wherein similar challenges were raised and rejected.

Each of the below cited claims were raised in some fashion or form in the thirty-plus pretrial motions filed by Elledge. The State responded to each and the trial court denied, in a cursory fashion, most constitutional challenges. The trial court's denial of said motions should be affirmed.

(A) Heinous, Atrocious and Cruel Maynard v. Cartwright, 108 S.Ct. 1853 (1988)

In Smalley v. State, 546 So.2d 720 (Fla. 1989), this Court, in reviewing a Maynard v. Cartwright claim, concluded that based on a number of grounds, Florida's aggravating factor was Constitutional and did not run afoul of Maynard v. Cartmight, 108 S.Ct. 1853 (1988). See also Lewis v. Jeffers, 497 U.S. ____, 111 L.Ed.2d 606, 110 S.Ct. ____ (1990); Walton v. Arizona, 497 U.S. ____, 111 L.Ed.2d 511, 110 S.Ct. 3047 (1990). Elledge's suggestion that the decision in Shell v. Mississippi, ____ U.S. ____, 111 S.Ct. 313 (1990), has any impact regarding the constitutional manner in which "HAC" is applied is totally misplaced. Moreover, as will be noted in the proportionality argument made in Point XXIX, this Court has consistently applied heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravator to death by strangulation.

(B) Failure to Limit Avoid Arrest Aggravating Factor

Citing to **Hitchcock v. State**, **578** So.2d **685** (Fla. 1991), Elledge argues that the aggravating factor that the crime was committed for the purpose of avoiding an arrest does not sufficiently narrow the **class** of death eligible individuals. Such a contention is without merit. **See Green v. State**, So.2d (Fla. **1991**), 16 F.L.W. **S437**, **439**.

(C) Failure to Define or Provide Specific Instructions With Regard to Each Aggravating Factor, For Example, Defining the Underlying Felonies

Pursuant to Teffeteller v. State, 439 So.2d 840, 844 (Fla. 1983), it is clear this Court routinely reviews the adequacy of the instruction on any underlying felony. Any error in the instruction may be harmless error pursuant to Knight v. State, 394 So.2d 997 (Fla. 1981), Frazier v. State, 107 So.2d 16 (Fla. 1958). Note also: Vasil v. State, 374 So.2d 465 (Fla. 1979); Lightbourne v. State, 438 So.2d 380 (Fla. 1983) (sexual battery), and Duckett v. State, 568 So.2d 891 (Fla. 1990).

(D) Fair Majority of Jury Recommendation Violates Cruel and Unusual Punishment

The United States Supreme Court this past term, in a similar circumstance, concluded such an error neither violates due process nor the prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment. See Schad v. Arizona, 500 U.S. _____ (Cited June 21, 1991), Case No. 90-5551, 49 Cr.L. 2279.

- 92 -

(E) Supreme Court Intractable Ambiguities Prevent Even-Handed Application of Appellate Review

Citing **Parker** v. Dugger, 111 S.Ct. 731 (1991), Elledge claims that he will not get fair appellate review. Such a contention is without merit and certainly the United States Supreme Court, in Parker, did not conclude that the Florida Supreme Court did not or could not carry out its appellate function.

(F) Disparate Treatment of Capital Cases By Continuing to Apply Procedural Bar

Elledge argues that there is disparate treatment in the processing of capital **cases** in Florida because this Court continues to **adhere** to a procedural bar for those claims not properly preserved at trial for appeal. Such a contention is groundless. **See Wainwright v. Sykes, 433 U.S.** 72 (1977); **Francis** v. Henderson, **425** U.S. 536 (1976); Engle v. Isaac, 456 U.S. 107 (1982), and **Dugger** v. Adams, **489** U.S. 401 (1989). Certainly the United States Supreme Court has a full appreciation for the need to honor and continue to adhere to procedural bars.

(G) Burden of Proof of Mitigation

In Walton v. Arizona, _____U.S. ____, 110 S.Ct. 3047 (1990), and Lewis v. Jeffera, 497 U.S. ____, 111 L.Ed.2d 2606, 110 S.Ct. ______(1990), the United States Supreme Court found no impermissible burden shifting with regard to the development of mitigating circumstances.

- 93 -
(H) Inability to Consider Sympathy

Elledge cites to page 794 of the record where the trial court instructed the jury "this case must not be decided for against anyone because you feel sorry for anyone, or are angry at anyone." First of all, at the close of all the instructions, no objection was made by defense counsel this on point, specifically, that the jury was precluded from considering sympathy, presumably empathy for the defendant. Second, defense caunsel never sought a jury instruction asking for sympathy towards the defendant, rather special instruction No. 27, which was denied, provided "you are always free to grant mercy to William Elledge and sentence him to life imprisonment. You may grant mercy to William Elledge regardless of the existence of aggravating circumstances or the lack of mitigating Terminally, Elledge points to no circumstances," (TR 2655). state authority which requires a conclusion that the instruction given sub judice is constitutionally infirmed. A catch-all instruction was given which this Court has held sufficient to address any and all other evidence of mitigation submitted to the jury. Note: Nixon v. State, 572 So.2d 1336 (Fla. 1990).

(I) Circuit Judges Selected by a System Designed to Exclude $Blacks\,$ from Participating $as\,$ Judges\,

First of all, it is interesting to note that in support of this contention, Elledge points to an article in the Florida Bar News dated May 1, 1990, titled "Single Member Judicial Districts, Fair or Foul", which was published long after any sentencing proceeding occurred in this case. He cites to no authority which

- 94 -

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